Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Julie Gutman, M.D.

Date

Assessing the Efficacy of Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine, Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine + Artesunate, and Artemether-Lumefantrine for treatment of uncomplicated malaria in Tanzanian Children

By

Julie Gutman, M.D.

Master of Science

Clinical Research

S. Patrick Kachur, M.D., M.P.H. Advisor

> John R. Boring, Ph.D. Committee Member

Henry M. Blumberg, M.D. Committee Member

John E. McGowan, Jr., M.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Date

Assessing the Efficacy of Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine, Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine + Artesunate, and Artemether-Lumefantrine for treatment of uncomplicated malaria in Tanzanian Children

By

Julie Gutman B.A., University of Wisconsin- Madison, 1998 M.D., Sackler School of Medicine, University of Tel Aviv, 2002

Advisor: S. Patrick Kachur, M.D. M.P.H.

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Clinical Research 2009

Abstract

Assessing the Efficacy of Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine, Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine + Artesunate, and Artemether-Lumefantrine for treatment of uncomplicated malaria in Tanzanian Children By Julie Gutman, M.D.

In 2001 the Tanzanian government adopted sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine (SP) as the first-line antimalarial treatment. Continuous monitoring of antimalarial efficacy is crucial in light of increasing parasite resistance to antimalarials. We measured in vivo efficacy of SP alone versus SP-artesunate (SPAS) or artemether-lumefantrine (AL), three and five years after SP introduction and prior to widespread deployment of AL. Patients <5 years old with uncomplicated P. falciparum monoinfection were enrolled and randomized to receive either SP, SPAS, or AL using the standard WHO 28-day protocol. PCR genotyping was used to distinguish recrudescence from re-infection and characterize known molecular markers of antimalarial drug resistance. In 2004 we enrolled 425 patients; 143 each in the SP and SPAS arms and 139 in the AL arm, while in 2006 we enrolled 361 patients: 121 in the SP arm, 122 in the SPAS arm, and 118 in the AL arm. The 2006 uncorrected cure rates were 39%, 56%, and 77% in the SP, SPAS, and AL groups, respectively. This represents a significant decrease in efficacy for SP and SPAS since 2004, when respective uncorrected cure rates were 58%, 78%, and 80%, respectively. The PCR corrected cure rates in 2004 were 71%, 91%, and 94%, respectively; PCR corrected cure rates for 2006 are pending. Using treatment with SP as the baseline, the hazard ratio (95% CI) for infection was 0.26 (0.14-0.48) for SPAS and 0.14 (0.06-0.31) for Coartem; both of these were highly significant (p < 0.0001). In comparison to AL, treatment with both SP and SPAS resulted in a significant increase in the hazard ratio for infection (3.6, 95% CI: 2.3-5.6 for SP and 2.2, 95% CI: 1.4- 3.5 for SPAS). Both SPAS and AL were significantly more efficacious for treatment of uncomplicated malaria than is SP. However, the efficacy of SPAS is rapidly decreasing. SP should no longer be used for treatment of malaria illness in Tanzania, either as monotherapy or as part of artemisinin combination therapy.

Assessing the Efficacy of Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine, Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine + Artesunate, and Artemether-Lumefantrine for treatment of uncomplicated malaria in Tanzanian Children

By

Julie Gutman B.A., University of Wisconsin- Madison, 1998 M.D., Sackler School of Medicine, University of Tel Aviv, 2002

Advisor: S. Patrick Kachur, M.D. M.P.H.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Clinical Research 2009

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge Abdunoor Mulokozi, Allan Malisa, Peter B. Bloland, Salim Abdulla, and John R. MacArthur for their involvement in planning and implementing this study, Deborah Sumari for her efforts in analyzing the laboratory samples, all the field workers who tirelessly collected the samples and the data. I would like to thank Patrick Kachur, my primary mentor, for all his guidance and assistance. Finally, I would like to thank my wonderful husband, Daniel Newman, for putting up with me while I was working on my masters degree.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND	4
METHODS	10
DISCUSSION	23
CONCLUSION	29
TABLES	30
Table 1. Characteristics of enrolled patients in 2004 and 2006	30
Table 2. Differences between enrolled patients in 2004 and 2006	30
Table 3. Uncorrected cure rates and failure rates by type of failure for each trea	tment
arm	31
Table 4. Geometric Mean Parasite Density (95% Confidence Interval) by Follo	w-up
Day and Treatment Group	32
Table 5. Mean hemoglobin level, mean rise in hemoglobin, and percent of ane	mic
children by treatment group	33
Table 6. Results of Univariate Analysis using a Cox Proportional Hazards Mod	lel 34
Table 7. Results of Multivariate Analysis using a Cox Proportional Hazards Me	odel
for 2004, showing the effect of treatment- district interaction.	35
Table 8. Results of Multivariate Analysis for 2006 using a Cox Proportional Ha	zards
Model.	35
Table 9. Percentage of patients who owned a bed-net among those with and w	vithout
new infections during the course follow-up by treatment group (2004)	35
Table 10. Side effects reported by treatment group in 2004	36
Table 11. Side effects reported by treatment group in 2006	
Figure 1. 2004 Uncorrected failure rates stratified by treatment group	
Figure 2. 2006 Uncorrected failure rates stratified by treatment group	
Figure 3. Parasite clearance by treatment arm in 2004	40
Figure 4. Parasite clearance by treatment arm in 2006	40
Figure 5. Fever clearance by treatment arm, 2004	41
Figure 6. Fever clearance by treatment arm, 2006	41
REFERENCES	42

INTRODUCTION

Malaria is one of the most significant infectious diseases globally with an estimated 300- 500 million clinical cases and 1 million deaths occurring annually (1). Sub-Saharan Africa accounts for approximately 90% of the global burden (2). Children less than 5 years of age account for the majority of cases and deaths caused by malaria worldwide. Increasing resistance of the parasite to inexpensive antimalarials (chloroquine and sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine) results in increased morbidity and mortality as these antimalarials become ineffective.

The artemisinin derivatives have been developed as a new class of antimalarials in the last few decades. They are the most highly effective antimalarial drugs available, but, due to their short half-life, a long course of therapy is required if they are used as monotherapy (3). To allow administration of short courses of antimalarials (which have a higher adherence than longer courses) and to prevent the development of resistance to these valuable therapeutic agents, artemisinin-based combination therapies (ACTs) were developed, consisting of an artemisinin derivative (artesunate or artemether) in combination with a longer acting partner drug (4). ACTs are highly effective, but are significantly more expensive (>10 fold more expensive) than the antimalarials which had been in widespread use. Given the significant economic burden that a switch to these agents poses on a developing economy, the decision of when to switch the first line therapy to an ACT required balancing between the decreasing efficacy of the current regimen and the cost of these new regimens. In addition, it was important to field test these agents prior to large scale implementation to be sure that the added cost was justified.

The World Health Organization (WHO) advocates monitoring drug resistance using *in vivo* efficacy testing. The recommended threshold at which therapy should be changed has been adjusted downward, as new drugs have been developed and made available at more affordable prices. At the time SP was introduced, the recommendation was to change the first line antimalarial therapy once the 14 day failure rate exceeded 25% (5). More recent guidelines recommend changing the first line antimalarial therapy once failure rates at 28 days exceed 10% (6). In order to track the development of resistance, and to determine the best replacement therapies, continuous monitoring of *in vivo* drug efficacy is essential.

We conducted an open-label randomized, controlled, clinical trial to measure the *in vivo* efficacy of sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine (SP), then the recommended first line treatment for uncomplicated malaria in Tanzania, versus sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine -artesunate (SPAS) or artemether-lumefantrine (AL), three and five years after the introduction of SP. We calculated survival using the Kaplan-Meier product limit estimator. We also used the Cox proportional hazards model to assess the effect of additional covariates, including age, gender, district, initial parasite density, and bednet ownership, on failure. Some have argued that patients presenting with a higher initial parasitemia may be more likely to have a recrudescence of their parasitemia, due to the fact that there would be more chance for a resistant parasite to develop (the higher number of parasites increases the chances of developing a random resistance mutation as well as increases the time until all of the parasites are cleared from the bloodstream) (7). This finding has been seen in some studies

but not in others (8-10). Insecticide treated bednets have been shown to decrease malaria related morbidity and mortality, therefore it is important to consider the effect that they may have on treatment outcomes (11). In addition, we looked at the effect of treatment on the prevalence of anemia, as increasing drug resistance is associated with higher prevalence of anemia (12).

BACKGROUND

Malaria is caused by parasites of the *Plasmodium* genus. Human infection results from inoculation of motile *Plasmodium* sporozoites by a malaria-infected female *Anopheles* mosquito during a blood meal. The sporozoites infect liver cells where they mature into schizonts (exo-erythrocytic schizogony); these develop into merozoites which are released into the bloodstream following rupture of the hepatocyte. In the case of *P. vivax* and *P. ovale* a dormant hypnozoite stage may form and can persist in the liver, causing relapses weeks or years later. The merozoites which are released into the bloodstream proceed to infect erythrocytes, where they undergo asexual replication (erythrocytic schizogony) and develop into ring stage trophozoites. The trophozoites mature into schizonts, which rupture releasing merozoites. These infect new erythrocytes, continuing the infection with an exponentially enlarging parasite biomass resulting in fever and pathological processes such as anemia and cerebral malaria. Some the parasites differentiate into gametocytes, the sexual stage of the parasite. Sexual replication occurs when male and female gametocytes, which are ingested by the mosquito during feeding, combine in the stomach of the mosquito, and subsequently replicate, releasing sporozoites to the mosquito's salivary gland.

The developing trophozoites consume the cytoplasm of the erythrocyte. In doing so, they also ingest large amounts of hemoglobin, the predominant cytosolic protein of the red blood cell (RBC). Most of the hemoglobin is degraded within digestive vacuoles, releasing heme and generating amino acids. Free micromolar heme can damage cellular metabolism by the inhibition of enzymes (13, 14) the peroxidization of membranes (15), and the production of

oxidative free radicals as ferrous heme iron is oxidized to the ferric (+3) state (16). Plasmodial species do not possess heme oxygenase that vertebrates use for heme catabolism, therefore, they render this toxic byproduct inert by transforming it to a chemically inert crystal known as the malaria pigment hemozoin that can be visualized as intra-erythrocytic pigment by light microscopy of thin blood smears (17, 18).

Malaria symptoms and disease are caused exclusively by parasites in the asexual blood stage. Symptoms of malaria may be non-specific. Essentially all patients will present with fever. Other symptoms may include arthralgias, myalgias, diarrhea, vomiting, and abdominal cramps. Findings on examination may include pallor, jaundice, or hepatosplenomegaly. Anemia is common. Other laboratory abnormalities may include hypoglycemia, thrombocytopenia, hyponatremia, and elevations in creatinine. Severe disease is characterized by hyperparasitemia (>5% infected red blood cells), severe anemia, renal insufficiency, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), or cerebral malaria. Cerebral malaria is often associated with seizures, and may be associated with long-term cognitive and language impairment.

Four species are responsible for the majority of human disease: *Plasmodium falciparum*, *P. vivax*, *P. malariae*, and *P. ovale*. Occasionally, humans may also be infected with simian malaria; recently, several fatal cases in Southeast Asia were attributed to infections with the simian parasite *P. knowlesi*. In general, however, *P. falciparum* causes the most severe disease and is responsible for the greatest number of cases and deaths of all the species globally. Development of resistance to antimalarials is also seen primarily in *P. falciparum* (19),

although resistance of *P. vivax* to CQ has been reported from Indonesia (20-22), India (23), Myanmar (24), and the Amazon (25-28).

For the past 30 years, chloroquine (CQ), which interferes with the crystallization of heme to hemozoin, forming toxic heme complexes (29), has been the drug of choice for the treatment of malaria throughout Africa, based upon its rapid action, safety and low cost relative to other antimalarials. However, widespread use has led to significant resistance to CQ, mediated by mutations in the *P. falciparum* chloroquine resistance transporter (PfCRT) gene (30), with failure rates as high as 72% in 1999 (31). Increasing parasite resistance has led to a significant increase in malaria-related mortality (32), and prompted a change in first line therapy to sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine (SP). The components of sulfadoxinepyrimethamine inhibit the enzymes dihydropteroate synthase (DHPS) and dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) which catalyze sequential steps of the folate pathway, thus blocking plasmodium nucleic acid synthesis. SP had the advantage of being inexpensive (less than US\$0.20 per adult treatment course (33)) and requiring only one dose to provide complete treatment, due to it's long half-life (95.5 and 184 h for pyrimethamine and sulfadoxine, respectively (34)). However, the development of resistance to this combination was reported from multiple sites soon after its implementation in Africa, Asia, Indonesia, and South America (35-40), leading to a push to develop novel, efficacious, and, inexpensive anti-malarial therapies.

The artemisinins, derived from the plant *Artemisia annua*, also known as sweet wormwood, have been used in China for the treatment of malaria for many years. With the increasing

interest in developing new antimalarials, these compounds were evaluated and found to rapidly reduce parasitemia. Artemisinin derivatives are currently the most highly effective antimalarial drugs in widespread use and are capable of producing a more rapid reduction in parasite biomass than any other current antimalarial (33). In addition, they are one of few anti-malarials with gametocidal activity, which may contribute to reducing transmission, especially in low transmission settings (41-43). Artemisinins have a very short half-life of about an hour (44). This may help to make them less susceptible to development of resistance, but it means that a minimum of a seven day course is required to achieve acceptable cure rates when used alone (3). In order to be effective as part of a short course of therapy, a second, longer acting antimalarial must be given in combination with the artemisinin (41).

Since April 2001, WHO has recommended the use of artemisinin-based combination therapies (ACTs) in all areas with chloroquine resistant malaria. Artemisinin-based combination therapies pair an artemisinin derivative with a longer acting partner drug, such as lumefantrine or amodiaquine. The rationale behind the use of combination therapy is that the administration of two drugs with different mechanisms of action will delay the development of resistance to either drug, as resistance will require not one, but at least two mutations. This same rationale has been proven effective in treatment strategies for other infectious diseases, including tuberculosis and HIV. Although the discrepant half-lives of the two drugs mean that the partner drug is left with an unexposed tail, because the artemisinin component rapidly reduces parasite density, only a small fraction of parasites are still present, thus the likelihood of developing resistance is greatly decreased. Artemisinins are considerably more expensive than either CQ or SP monotherapy, and at the time when the recommendation to use ACTs was put forward by WHO, their availability was greatly limited (45). Deciding when to switch the antimalarial policy of a country relied on balancing the need for an effective therapy with the need to delay as long as possible, to prevent unnecessarily burdening the country financially. Furthermore, in order to justify the added expenditure related to ACTs, it was important to field test these new drugs prior to large scale implementation, to ensure that the benefits would justify the increased costs.

Once a new therapy has been implemented, it is crucial to continue to monitor the efficacy of both currently recommended and alternative therapies to continue to provide effective treatment. WHO recommends monitoring of efficacy using *in vivo* testing, in which a drug is administered to children age 6- 59 months with uncomplicated *P. falciparum* malaria who are then followed for a minimum of 28 days to document cure rates (6, 46, 47). Especially in areas of high transmission, clinical failures may be due to drug resistance in the original infection or an entirely new infection that emerges after complete treatment of the original infections. In evaluating drug efficacy, it is important to differentiate failures due to new infections from those due to recrudescence of parasites that were inadequately treated. In order to differentiate recrudescence from new infections, WHO recommends molecular genotyping. The most commonly used molecular markers are Merozoite Surface Peptide (msp)-1, msp-2, and glutamate-rich protein (glurp) (48). A 'new infection' is defined as a parasitemia in which all the alleles in parasites from the post-treatment sample are different from those in the admission sample, for one or more loci tested, while a 'recrudescence' is

defined as a parasitemia in which at least one allele at each locus is common to both the admission and relapse samples.

In Tanzania, at the time the government changed its first line malaria treatment from chloroquine to SP in 2001, SP failure rates were already as high as 25- 35% in parts of the country (8, 49, 50). Several studies in Southeast Asia in areas with significant mefloquine resistance had shown that the addition of artesunate to mefloquine resulted in high cure rates, even when mefloquine failure rates were approximately 25% (5, 51, 52). This had been shown to be true for the addition of artesunate to SP as well (10). Therefore, it was thought that the addition of artesunate to SP as well (10). Therefore, it was thought that the addition of artesunate to SP might prolong the useful lifespan of SP, thus providing a lower cost alternative to the other ACTs. This *in vivo* study was conducted at the time when SP was still the first line therapy in Tanzania, to explore whether the combination of SP+ artesunate would improve treatment efficacy versus SP alone. Given the possibility that the efficacy of SP+AS might be sub-optimal, the efficacy of artemether-lumefantrine (AL) was explored as another possible option.

METHODS

Hypothesis. The <u>null hypothesis</u> was that there is no difference in the therapeutic efficacy of SP, SPAS, or AL for treatment of uncomplicated *Plasmodium falciparum* infections among children less than 5 years of age based on clinical, parasitologic, and hematologic parameters.

Study Design. This was a prospective, open-label randomized, controlled clinical trial.

Study Area. This study was conducted at the Kibiti Health Center in Rufiji district and the Lupiro Health Center in Ulanga district of Tanzania. Malaria transmission is holoendemic, with year round transmission and seasonal peaks following the rainy seasons in November - December and March-May in both districts.

Rufiji and Ulanga are adjacent districts, divided by the Selous Game Reserve and form part of a contiguous ecosystem, the Greater Rufiji River Basin. The geography ranges from highland to forest, but most of the population is settled along broad flood plains where rice cultivation is possible. Rufiji is home to an estimated 202,001 people (32,661 less than 5 years of age), while Ulanga has a population of 193,280 people (31,553 less than 5 years) (53). Most are subsistence farmers and fishermen.

Participants. Patients 6 months to 59 months of age were eligible for enrollment if they presented to one of the participating health centers with *P. falciparum* mono-infection with a parasite density 2,000- 250,000 asexual parasites/mm³ blood and a documented fever

(axillary temperature \geq 37.5°C) or history of fever in the last 48 hours, with no obvious causes of fever other than malaria. Children were excluded if they had evidence of danger signs (unable to drink or breastfeed, profuse vomiting, convulsions, lethargy, altered mental status) or severe malaria (cerebral malaria, prostration, Hb < 5 g/dL, etc.) requiring hospitalization, a history of allergy to any antimalarial, other serious or chronic medical condition (heart failure, sickle cell disease), or weight < 5 kg. Written informed consent of the parent or guardian was required for participation.

Procedures. At enrollment, parents were questioned about the child's symptoms and any medications given. Axillary temperature and weight were measured, and a physical examination was performed. Parents were asked to bring their children for follow-up assessments on Days 1, 2, 3, 7, 14, 21, 28, and at any other time the child appeared ill. At each follow-up visit, a physical exam was performed, and the parents were questioned regarding possible adverse effects; any medications which the child received in addition to the study medication were documented.

Evaluation of in vivo *efficacy.* Blood was obtained by finger prick for thick blood smears and storage on filter paper at enrollment and on all follow-up days except day 1. Hemoglobin was measured at enrollment and day 14; in 2006 hemoglobin was also measured at day 28. Thick blood smears were prepared with 2% Giemsa stain for a minimum of 10 minutes and the number of parasites per 200 WBC counted. Parasite density was estimated assuming an average WBC count of 6,000/mm³. A second microscopist, who was unaware of the results of the first reading, reread all slides. A third microscopist unaware of the first two readings

resolved discrepant slides as needed. Gametocytemia was also assessed from thick blood smears. Hemoglobin measurements were made using a portable spectrophotometer (HemoCue, Angelholm, Sweden <u>http://www.hemocue.com</u>).

Antimalarial Therapy. Patients were randomized to receive SP, SPAS, or AL using a random number table. All drugs were administered orally as follows: SP (500mg sulfadoxine/ 25mg pyrimethamine tablets, Fansidar, Roche, Basel, Switzerland) as a single dose of 25 mg/kg of the sulfadoxine component, up to a maximum of 3 tablets, on Day 0; SPAS (500mg sulfadoxine/25mg pyrimethamine tablets and 50 mg artesunate sodium tablets, Arsumax, Sanofi-Aventis, Gentilly, France) as a single dose of SP (25mg/kg sulfadoxine) on Day 0 plus 4 mg/kg artesunate once daily for 3 days, starting on Day 0; AL (Coartem, Novartis, 20 mg artemether/120 mg lumefantrine tablets, Coartem, Novartis, Basel, Switzerland), administered according to weight as one (5–14 kg), two (15–24 kg), three (25–34 kg), or four (35 kg) tablets given twice daily for 3 days. The first dose each day was administered under supervision by the clinical staff. Patients were observed for 60 minutes following administration of treatment for adverse reactions or vomiting. Patients who vomited their medication within the first 30 minutes following administration received a repeat full dose, those vomiting between 30-60 minutes following administration received an additional half dose. For artemether-lumefantrine, which is given twice daily, the parent was given the evening dose each morning to administer at home.

<u>Outcome variables</u>. The primary outcome was clinical and parasitological response, assessed as the number and percent of patients who respond by day 3 (temperature < 37.5°C on Day 3)

and remain malaria free at day 28. PCR corrected survival rates (using PCR to discriminate recrudescence from new infections) are also reported. Hematologic response (mean change in hemoglobin concentration from Day 0 to Day 14 and Day 0 to Day 28, measured by HemoCue in mg/dl) was assessed as a secondary outcome variable.

<u>Predictor Variables.</u> The primary predictor variable was treatment arm. Other predictor variables examined were age, gender, and initial parasite density (measured by counting the number of parasites/ 200 WBC).

<u>Sample size</u>. Sample size was determined using the single population proportion sampling technique to show the single point estimate of the performance of each drug. Assuming a worst-case scenario failure rate of 80% for SP based on previous studies, a power of 80%, a 5% level of significance, and precision of 10%, 62 subjects needed to be enrolled in each arm of the trial. Allowing for 15% attrition during a 28-day study, a total of 72 subjects per treatment arm per health center/ year were enrolled.

<u>Analysis</u>

Efficacy. Treatment outcomes were classified according to 2005 WHO guidelines as early treatment failure (ETF; danger signs or complicated malaria or failure to adequately respond to therapy days 0–3); late clinical failure (LCF; danger signs or complicated malaria or fever and parasitemia on days 4–28 without previously meeting criteria for ETF or LPF); late parasitological failure (LPF; asymptomatic parasitemia days 7–28 without previously meeting

criteria for ETF or LCF); or adequate clinical and parasitological response (ACPR, absence of parasitemia on day 28 without previously meeting criteria for ETF, LCF, or LPF) (46). Patients who failed therapy were treated with amodiaquine (10 mg/kg/day for Days 1 and 2 and 5 mg/kg for Day 3). Patients were excluded from further follow-up after enrollment if any of the following occurred: (1) use of antimalarial drugs outside of the study protocol; (2) withdrawal of consent; (3) loss to follow-up; (4) protocol violation; or (5) death due to a non-malarial illness.

The primary efficacy outcomes were the 28-day risk of early treatment failure or recurrent parasitemia (LCF or LPF), unadjusted and adjusted by genotyping. Secondary efficacy outcomes included prevalence of fever and parasitemia during the first 3 d of follow-up, change in mean hemoglobin from day 0 to day 14, and prevalence of gametocytemia (presence of gametocytes on thick smears) during follow-up in participants lacking gametocytes at enrollment. Molecular genotyping techniques were used to distinguish recrudescent from new infections for all patients with LCF or LPF response. Briefly, parasite DNA was isolated from filter paper blood samples collected at enrollment and on the day of recurrent parasitemia. PCR genotyping for allelic variation of merozoite surface peptides (msp) 1 and msp 2 and glutamate rich protein (glurp) was used to distinguish recrudescence from re-infection (54).

Safety. Safety outcomes included risks of serious adverse events and common adverse events of any severity. An adverse event was defined as any untoward medical occurrence,

irrespective of its suspected relationship to the study medications [18]. At each follow-up visit, patients were assessed for any new or worsening event.

Statistical Methods. Data were entered and verified using FoxPro version 3.0 (Microsoft, Redmond, WA) and analyzed using SAS Version 9.1.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). Efficacy and safety data were evaluated using a modified intention-to-treat analysis which included all patients who were enrolled and received at least one dose of study medication. The risk of recurrent parasitemia at Day 28 (adjusted and unadjusted by genotyping) was estimated using the Kaplan-Meier product limit formula. Data were censored for patients who did not complete follow-up and for new infections when estimating outcomes adjusted by genotyping. The log-rank test was used to compare the difference in outcomes between different arms. Three pair-wise log-rank tests were used to compare the efficacy of each drug to the other two. A Cox proportional hazard model was used to further explore the effect of various covariates, including age, gender, weight, fever at enrollment, initial parasite density, district, treatment group, and bednet ownership. Age was modeled as both a continuous and categorical variable with 3 groups: 6-12 months (reference group), 13-23 months, and 24-59 months. Initial parasitemia was modeled as both a continuous variable and a categorical variable (<10,000/ μ l (reference group) and \geq 10,000/ μ l). SP was the reference group for treatment and Ulanga was the reference district. The final model for 2004 included treatment, district, bednet ownership, age as a categorical variable, and a treatment- district interaction, expressed as follows:

 $Log [HR(infection)] = \beta_0 + \beta_1(SPAS) + \beta_2(AL) + \beta_3(district) + \beta_4(bednet ownership) + \beta_5(age category 13-23 months) + \beta_6(age category 24-59 months) + \beta_7(SPAS-district interaction) + \beta_8(AL-district interaction).$

The final model for 2006 included treatment, district, bednet ownership, and age as a categorical variable and parasitemia as a categorical variable (hyperparasitemia). Treatment-district interaction was explored, but was found to be non-significant. The final model was:

 $Log [(HR infection)] = \beta_0 + \beta_1(SPAS) + \beta_2(AL) + \beta_3(district) + \beta_4(bednet ownership) + \beta_5(age category 13-23 months) + \beta_6(age category 24-59 months) + \beta_7(hyperparasitemia)$

Categorical variables were compared using Chi-squared or Fisher exact test and continuous variables were compared using the independent samples t-test for variables with a normal distribution and the Wilcoxon test for variables with a non- normal distribution. All reported p-values are two sided; p-values were adjusted with the Bonferroni correction as needed for multiple testing and were considered statistically significant if below 0.05.

Ethics. Both verbal and written informed consent was obtained from parents/ guardians in their native language (Swahili) at the time of screening and again before randomization to one of the study treatment arms. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and The Ifakara Health Research and Development Center. The Tanzanian Ministry of Health also gave approval for the conduct of this study under the authority of the National Medical Research Coordinating Committee.

RESULTS

In 2004, 425 patients were enrolled; 143 each in the SP and SPAS arms and 139 in the AL arm, while in 2006, 361 patients were enrolled: 121 in the SP arm, 122 in the SPAS arm, and 118 in the AL arm. In 2004, patients were enrolled between June and October; in 2006, enrollment began in June and was completed in January, 2007. There were no significant differences in gender, age, temperature, parasite density, hemoglobin, or bednet ownership between the three treatment groups in either year (Table 1), however, there was a significant increase in bednet ownership and a significant decrease in the percent of children with gametocytemia from 2004 to 2006 (Table 2). There was also a significant increase in the age of enrolled children, with a concurrent increase in the mean weight and decrease in mean respiratory rate. In addition to a significant increase in bednet ownership in both districts from 2004 to 2006, there was a significant difference in the ownership of bednets between the 2 districts. In 2004, only 29% of patients in Rufiji reported owning a bednet, while in Ulanga 80% of patients owned a bednet (P < 0.0001). In 2006, bednet ownership in Rufiji jumped to 94%, while in Ulanga it increased much more modestly to 85% (p= 0.0057). Only a small percentage of children had used other drugs with potential antimalarial activity. One child in 2004 reported use of SP and one child in 2006 reported use of amodiaquine. In 2004 7-8% of children in each treatment arm reported using cotrimoxazole. There were no reports of cotrimoxazole use in 2006 nor of any other antimalarials or agents with potential antimalarial activity (i.e. clindamycin). A high percentage of children reported use of antipyretics. This was more marked in 2006 (80%) than in 2004 (60%). Antibiotics were also used frequently; 54% and 46% of children received antibiotics other than cotrimoxazole

in 2004 and 2006, respectively (p=0.03). There was not a significant difference in the proportion of children using antibiotics by treatment arm in either year.

Outcomes

Primary efficacy outcomes. There were six (4%) early treatment failures in 2004, all in the SP group. Recurrent parasitemia was first detected on day 14 in the SPAS arm and day 21 in the AL arm (Figure 1; Table 3). The uncorrected 14 day cure rates were 90%, 99%, and 100% for SP, SPAS, and AL, respectively. The uncorrected 28 day cure rate was significantly lower in the SP arm than in either the SPAS or AL arm with cure rates of 58%, 76%, and 81%, respectively (p- value <0.0001). There was a significant difference between SP and each of the other drugs (p-value <0.0001 for both). There was not a statistically significant difference between SPAS and AL (p-value= 0.33). Similar trends were seen when results were corrected by genotyping, with cure rates of 71%, 91%, and 94%, respectively. PCR data was missing for a total of 7 participants, 4 (2.8%) in the SP arm, 2 (1.4%) in the SPAS arm, and 1 (0.7%) in the AL arm. The rate of re-infection was similar across all treatment groups (12- 14%, p=0.83).

In 2006, there were 10 early treatment failures - 9 (7% of total subjects) in the SP group and 1 (1%) in the AL group. Recurrent parasitemia was first detected in the SPAS group at day 7. Following a single early treatment failure in the AL group at day 3, no additional failures occurred until day 12. The uncorrected 14 day cure rates were 70%, 89%, and 96% for SP, SPAS, and AL, respectively. By day 28, the uncorrected cure rates had dropped to 51%, 64%, and 86% in the SP, SPAS, and AL groups, respectively (p- value <0.0001) (Figure 2;

Table 3). There was a significant difference (p-value <0.0001) in the cure rate at 28 days between AL and SP and between AL and SPAS. The difference in cure rate between SP and SPAS at 28 days was of borderline significance following Bonferroni correction (p-value = 0.016). This represents a potentially significant decrease in efficacy for SPAS since 2004. PCR corrected cure rates for 2006 are pending.

Parasite Density & Gametocytes

The geometric mean parasite density was higher for the SP group than for either of the other groups at every follow-up day in both years (Table 4, Figures 3 & 4). Gametocytes were present in 10%, 1.5%, and 0% of patients at day 14 (p<0.0001) and in 5%, 1.6%, and 0% (p=0.004) of patients at day 28 in the SP, SPAS, and AL groups in 2004. In 2006, gametocytes were present on day 14 in 6.6%, 0%, and 0% (p=0.0001) and on day 28 in 2.5%, 0%, and 0% (p=0.037) in the SP, SPAS, and AL groups, respectively.

Hemoglobin.

In both 2004 and 2006, patients treated with SP had a smaller mean rise in hemoglobin concentration from day 0 to day 14 than did the other arms (0.5 mg/dl, 0.8 mg/dl, and 0.8 mg/dl for SP, SPAS, and AL in 2004 and 0.3 mg/dl, 0.5 mg/dl, and 0.7 mg/dl, respectively, in 2006), as well as a higher percentage of patients remaining anemic on day 14 (64% in the SP arm versus 52% in the SPAS arm and 55% in the AL arm in 2004 and 73%, 64%, and 64%, respectively in 2006). However, these differences were not statistically significant (Table 5).

In 2004, there are insufficient Day 28 hemoglobin values to perform statistical analysis. In 2006, there was a significant increase in hemoglobin from Day 14 to Day 28 for all three treatment arms. The group treated with AL had a greater increase in mean hemoglobin concentration (1.5 mg/dl) than either the group treated with SP (1 mg/dl) or SPAS (0.85 mg/dl); however, this difference was statistically significant only for the difference between SPAS and AL (p= 0.016). By day 28, the percent of children remaining anemic in the AL group was significantly less than in either other group (41% in AL group versus 62% in SP and 68% in SPAS groups, p=0.001) (Table 5).

Univariate and Multivariate Modeling

The effects of various covariates were explored using a Cox Proportional Hazard Model. In univariate modeling, the effects of both SPAS and AL compared to SP alone were significant in both 2004 and 2006. The effect of bednet ownership was non-significant in both univariate and multivariate analysis in all years. There was no interaction of bednet and district (data not shown). The effect of initial parasitemia was significant in 2006 but not in 2004. The effect of gender, weight, temperature at enrollment, and use of cotrimoxazole were all found to be non-significant in univariate analysis (Table 6).

In the univariate analysis of 2004 data, compared to SP, treatment with SPAS resulted in a hazard ratio of 0.45 (95% CI = 0.30- 0.69, p = 0.0002) for infection during the 28 day follow-up period. Treatment with AL resulted in a hazard ratio of 0.36 (95% CI= 0.23- 0.56, p <0.0001) compared to treatment with SP. Treatment with AL was not significantly different from treatment with SPAS. In 2006, using treatment with SP as the baseline, the

hazard ratio (95% CI) for infection was 0.64 (0.43- 0.94) for SPAS and 0.22 (0.12- 0.38) for AL; both of these were highly significant (p=0.02 and p<0.0001, respectively). In comparison to AL, treatment with SPAS resulted in a significant increase in the hazard ratio for infection (2.9, 95% CI: 1.7- 5.2).

In multivariate analysis of 2004 data (Table 7), AL showed a significant benefit over SP in both districts, with a hazard ratio of 0.3 (0.15- 0.62, p=0.001) and 0.5 (0.28- 0.995, p=0.048) for Ulanga and Rufiji, respectively. SPAS, however, provided a greater benefit than SP in Ulanga only, with a hazard ratio of 0.19 (0.08- 0.44, p<0.0001). In 2006 (Table 8), there was no interaction of district and treatment. Treatment with both SPAS and AL showed a significant benefit over treatment with SP, HR= 0.55 (0.37- 0.82, p=0.003) and HR= 0.22 (0.13- 0.39, p <0.0001), respectively.

Bednets

We evaluated the utility of bednets for preventing infection. As stated above, bednet ownership was not associated with a decreased risk of uncorrected treatment failure in either univariate or multivariate analysis. Bednet ownership was, however, associated with a decreased risk of re-infection during the follow-up period, although this was not statistically significant except for SPAS (Table 9).

Resolution of symptoms

In 2004, the percent of patients reporting symptoms on day 2 was significantly higher in the SP group than in the other groups: fever was reported in 51% of the SP group versus 5%

and 9% in the SPAS and AL arms, respectively (p<0.0001). Weakness was reported in 18% of the SP group versus 2% and 3% in the SPAS and AL arms, respectively, p<0.0001, and vomiting was reported in 12% of the SP group versus 1% and 4% of the SPAS and AL respectively, p<0.001 (Table 10, Figure 5). No significant differences between treatment groups were observed for the proportion of patients reporting diarrhea and rash on any of the follow-up days. Six children in the SP group had seizures. Two occurred early, on days 2 and 3, and the remainder occurred late, at day 20, 26, and 27 (two). None of the children in the other groups had seizures.

Similar results were seen for 2006, with fever, weakness, and vomiting reported on Day 2 in 51%, 18%, and 13% of patients in the SP group compared to 5%, 2%, and 1% and 9%, 3%, and 1% in the SPAS and AL groups, respectively(p-value <0.0001) for all (Table 11, Figure 6). Diarrhea was seen more commonly in the AL group on the day of enrollment; subsequently, there was no difference in proportion of patients reporting diarrhea among the groups. There was no difference in the proportion of patients reporting rash at any follow-up day. One child in the SPAS group had a seizure on the day of enrollment. No other children reported seizures.

Safety concerns

There were no reports of any serious adverse events.

DISCUSSION

The results show that both SPAS and AL are significantly more efficacious than SP monotherapy at day 14, but by 2006, the 28 day efficacy of SPAS is declining significantly. Despite the declining efficacy of SPAS, the combination therapies resulted in a more rapid resolution of symptoms (fever, weakness, vomiting), clearance of parasitemia, and a decreased proportion of children with circulating gametocytes. There was a general trend towards higher mean hemoglobin values and a lower percentage of anemic children in the AL group. This was most marked in 2006 at the 28 day follow-up; however, a statistically significant difference was seen only between AL and SPAS in 2006, and not between AL and SP. This may be due to the relatively small sample size.

In Tanzania, the study site, the decision to switch the first line antimalarial therapy from CQ to SP was made in 1998, but due to lack of funds, was not able to be implemented until 2001. By that time, there was already a significant level of resistance to SP in some parts of the country (8, 49, 50). Within three years of its implementation as first line therapy, the efficacy of SP monotherapy was 71% at 28 days following correction for re-infections. This is well below the current standards which recommend use of antimalarials with at least 90% efficacy. However, the uncorrected day 14 failure rate was 10%, which was still within the acceptable range at that time (WHO recommendation was to change therapy once there was >25% resistance at 14 days (5)). There was only a minimal incremental drop in SP efficacy between 2004 and 2006, from 58 to 51% (uncorrected), likely due to the level of resistant alleles being near saturation in the population by this time. This rapid drop in efficacy was

observed following SP implementation in other countries (10, 55-58).

Although initially, addition of artesunate to SP resulted in a significantly higher likelihood of cure, by 2006 the uncorrected cure rate dropped to 89% at 14 days and only 64% by 28 days. Assuming that the true re-infection rate was close to those observed in 2004, one would expect that the corrected cure rate would rise to 76-78%, still well below the 90% cure rate currently recommended by WHO. Furthermore, one might expect that the rates of re-infection in 2006 would be lower than in 2004, as the rate of bednet ownership had increased, and the prevalence of parasitemia in the area had decreased from about 30% to about 10% (59). The addition of artesunate to SP did not have the hoped for effect of prolonging the useful lifespan of SP. The low efficacy of SPAS can likely be explained by the existing high level resistance to SP. Dorsey *et al.* showed a similar picture of relatively high cure rates with SPAS at 14 days, with a significant decline in efficacy by 28 days in an area with high level resistance to SP (10).

While 14 day cure rate with AL in 2006 remained excellent at 96%, the 28 day cure rate were less than desired at 86%. However, the uncorrected 2006 cure rate actually increased from that seen in 2004 (81%). Assuming a roughly 10-12% rate of re-infection (similar to what was seen in 2004), we suspect that the corrected cure rates would be closer to 96- 98%, however, as mentioned previously, it is likely that there will be lower rates of re-infection in 2006 than 2004, resulting in a lower cure rate for AL, but it is unlikely that the corrected cure rate will be <90%. In making this judgment, however, it is important to recognize the significant differences between 2004 and 2006. As the prevalence of parasitemia in the

community has rapidly decreased, children at risk for infection in 2006 are different to those in 2004. They likely are of lower socioeconomic status, and have decreased access to insecticide treated nets (ITNs) or health services in general. The fact that they are the few that are infected in the community may mean that they have increased risk for any number of reasons; therefore, their re-infection rates may be higher than expected based on 2004 data.

Modeling was used to explore the effects of various covariates on the rate of recrudescence. Only treatment arm, district, age, and initial parasitemia were shown to have any effect on failure rates. In theory, initial parasite density may be related to treatment outcome, as a higher parasite load corresponds both with more severe disease, and also theoretically, provides a larger pool from which resistance could develop. There was no significant association between the initial parasite density and outcome in 2004, in keeping with the results of some previous studies (8, 9), but a very significant association with initial parasite density of greater than 10,000 parasites/ μ l in 2006, as has previously been reported by Dorsey *et al* (10). This finding is likely related to the fact that the proportion of children with high level parasitemia in 2004 was much greater than that in 2006. In 2004, 58% of children had initial parasitemia greater than 10,000 parasites/ μ l; 30% of these children failed therapy, with no difference by treatment group. In 2006, only 5% of children had parasitemia greater than 10,000 parasites/ μ l, but all of them failed therapy.

One of the most interesting findings of this study was the differential benefit of the antimalarials by district in 2004. AL was slightly more beneficial in Ulanga than in Rufiji;

however, SPAS was more efficacious than SP only in Ulanga. One possible explanation for the lower efficacy of SPAS in Rufiji might be increased resistance following the introduction of SPAS as first line therapy as a pilot project in Rufiji in 2003. Although bednet ownership was significantly different between patients enrolled from the two districts at that time, owning a bednet does not appear to be responsible for this difference. However, the community-wide prevalence of bednets might have contributed to these differences. Community-wide bednet ownership among people of all ages was 85.6% in communities near the Ulanga site in 2004, and increased to 92.4% in 2006, while in villages near the Rufiji enrollment site, coverage of bednets was only 51.3% in 2004, increasing to 63.4% in 2006 (unpublished data, S. Patrick Kachur). Insecticide treated bednets have been shown to decrease malaria transmission rates (60-63), with a higher level of coverage resulting in more substantial decreases. Use of bednets has been shown to decrease the mean parasite density of infection and the multiplicity of infection (the number of different infecting strains) (64); both of these factors are associated with the development of resistance (65, 66). It is possible that the higher bednet coverage in Ulanga helped to decrease transmission and thus also impacted the prevalence of resistant parasites. Mathematical modeling suggests that decreasing transmission results in a decreased rate of acquisition of resistance, at least up to a point, and therefore, advocates the use of bednets to help delay the spread of resistance (65, 66). In a study by Alifrangis *et al.*, bednet usage was associated with a decrease in the prevalence of resistant alleles of *dbfr* (conferring resistance to pyridoxine), but no difference in the prevalence of resistant alleles to *dhps* (conferring resistance to sulfadoxine) (64). As resistance to *dhfr* develops more quickly than that to *dhps*, the authors speculate that loss of resistance may occur in the same order and that with a

more prolonged observation period, susceptibility to SP may occur. This effect would occur at the community level rather than at the level of the individual, possibly partially explaining the significant effect of district and not of bednets observed in our study.

While bednets were not shown to affect the crude failure rates, they did decrease the rate of re-infection, as has been shown previously (67). Although one would not necessarily expect sleeping under a bednet to decrease recrudescence rates, some argue that sleeping under a bednet reduces multiplicity of infection (64), which may then impact recrudescence rates. However, this was not observed in our study.

A significant proportion of the treatment failures in the SPAS group occurred after 14 days of follow-up. By this time, there is no circulating artesunate, and the concentration of SP has dropped to a level below the treatment threshold. Exposure of parasites to these low levels of drug are felt to select for resistance (68). This suggests that SPAS is not an appropriate new regimen for treatment of uncomplicated malaria in regions, such as Tanzania, with substantial resistance to SP.

The late 1990s were a time of much confusion and debate over malaria treatment policy throughout Africa. By 2001, there was a growing consensus that artemisinin-containing combination therapies were likely to be more efficacious than traditional monotherapies almost everywhere they were examined (69). Whether the combinations would lower malaria transmission pressure or forestall the development and spread of drug resistance—which had been claimed to have occurred in southeast Asia—became less important as the

number of efficacious alternative antimalarial monotherapies quickly diminished. In 2006, following the results of this study, the Tanzanian Ministry of Health made the decision to change the first line therapy to artemether-lumefantrine, based on the poor efficacy of SP and only slight advantage of SPAS. Following this change, continued monitoring of the efficacy of AL will be essential to detect resistance before it reaches the levels seen with SP. As newer antimalarials are developed, they will require continued evaluation to determine the most cost-effective strategy for treatment of uncomplicated malaria.

CONCLUSION

Both SPAS and AL were significantly more efficacious for treatment of uncomplicated malaria than SP. However, the efficacy of SPAS is rapidly decreasing. SP should no longer be used for treatment of malaria illness in Tanzania, either as monotherapy or as part of artemisinin combination therapy.

TABLES

		2004			2006	
	SP	SPAS	AL	SP	SPAS	AL
N	143	143	139	121	122	118
Resident of Rufiji District (%)	52%	52%	54%	49%	50%	52%
Bednet use (%)	53%	51%	55%	93%	85%	91%
Male (%)	52%	50%	46%	48%	42%	53%
Mean age (months)	25	27.6	24.8	31.7	29	30.4
Mean weight (kg)	10.8	11	10.7	11.8	11.3	11.6
Fever at enrollment (%)	66%	58%	63%	64%	66%	63%
Mean axillary temperature (°C)	38.7	38.7	38.6	38.4	38.5	38.5
Geometric mean parasite density (parasites/ ul)	54,719	49,137	44,737	41,963	49,269	40,705
Gametocytes (%)	2.9%	2.8%	5.6%	1.65%	0.82%	0%
Mean hemoglobin (mg/dl)	9.1	9.4	8.9	9.1	8.9	9
Mean respiratory Rate (bpm)	43	44	43	37	38	38
Antipyretic use	62%	57%	60%	78%	80%	78%
Sulfa drug (cotrimoxazole)	8%	8%	7%	0	0	0

Table 1. Characteristics of enrolled patients in 2004 and 2006.

Table 2. Differences between enrolled patients in 2004 and 2006.

	2004	2006	p-value
Ν	425	361	
District (Rufiji)	53%	50%	0.43
Bednet (%)	53%	89%	<0.0001
Male (%)	49%	48%	0.65
Mean age (months)	25.8	30.3	<0.0001
Mean weight (kg)	10.7	11.6	< 0.0001
Fever at enrollment (%)	62%	64%	0.64
Mean temperature (°C)	36.9	36.9	0.69
Geometric mean parasite density (parasites/ ul)	49,576	44,021	0.25
Gametocytes (%)	3.8%	0.83%	0.01
Mean hemoglobin (mg/dl)	9.1	9	0.38
Mean respiratory Rate (bpm)	33	29	< 0.0001
Antipyretic use	60%	79%	< 0.0001
Use of sulfa drugs (cotrimoxazole)	8%	0%	< 0.0001

SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine

SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate

AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

		2004			2006	
	SP	SPAS	AL	SP	SPAS	AL
Ν	143	143	139	121	122	118
ETF	6 (4%)	0	0	9 (7%)	0	1 (0.85%)
LCF	26 (18%)	13 (9%)	9 (6%)	20 (17%)	11 (9%)	3 (3%)
LPF	28 (20%)	21 (15%)	18 (13%)	30 (25%)	33 (27%)	12 (10%)
ACPR*	83 (58%)	109 (76%)	112 (81%)	62 (51%)	78 (64%)	102 (86%)

Table 3. Uncorrected cure rates and failure rates by type of failure for each treatment arm

The rate of Adequate clinical and parasitologic cure was significantly different among the treatment groups in both 2004 and 2006 (p<0.0001).

SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine

SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate

AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

ETF= Early treatment failure

LCF= Late clinical failure

LPF= Late parasitologic failure

ACPR= Adequate clinical and parasitologic response

			2001			
v-up	SP		SPAS		AL	
Ν	Geo Mean	Ν	Geo Mean	Ν	GeoMean	p-value
143	10.39 (10.16- 10.6)	143	10.35 (10.15- 10.6)	139	10.29 (10.09- 10.5)	0.7659
140	2.2 (1.60- 2.80)	140	0.18 (0.02- 0.33)	139	0.25 (0.05- 0.46)	< 0.0001
136	1.54(0.97-2.11)	141	0.03 (0- 0.10)	138	0.15 (0- 0.33)	< 0.0001
126	0.36 (0.07- 0.66)	140	0	137	0	0.0013
123	0.93 (0.45- 1.41)	138	0.11 (0- 0.27)	135	0	< 0.0001
106	1.67 (0.99- 2.36)	129	0.57 (0.199- 0.94)	135	0.85 (0.39- 1.31)	0.0109
96	2.99 (2.15- 3.84)	124	1.82 (1.15- 2.49)	125	1.4 (0.80- 2.00)	0.0048
	v-up N 143 140 136 126 123 106 96	sp SP N Geo Mean 143 10.39 (10.16- 10.6) 140 2.2 (1.60- 2.80) 136 1.54(0.97- 2.11) 126 0.36 (0.07- 0.66) 123 0.93 (0.45- 1.41) 106 1.67 (0.99- 2.36) 96 2.99 (2.15- 3.84)	sp SP N Geo Mean N 143 10.39 (10.16-10.6) 143 140 2.2 (1.60-2.80) 140 136 1.54(0.97-2.11) 141 126 0.36 (0.07-0.66) 140 123 0.93 (0.45-1.41) 138 106 1.67 (0.99-2.36) 129 96 2.99 (2.15-3.84) 124	<i>v</i> -up SP SPAS N Geo Mean N Geo Mean 143 10.39 (10.16-10.6) 143 10.35 (10.15-10.6) 140 2.2 (1.60-2.80) 140 0.18 (0.02-0.33) 136 1.54(0.97-2.11) 141 0.03 (0-0.10) 126 0.36 (0.07-0.66) 140 0 123 0.93 (0.45-1.41) 138 0.11 (0-0.27) 106 1.67 (0.99-2.36) 129 0.57 (0.199-0.94) 96 2.99 (2.15-3.84) 124 1.82 (1.15-2.49)	v-up SP SPAS N Geo Mean N Geo Mean N 143 10.39 (10.16-10.6) 143 10.35 (10.15-10.6) 139 140 2.2 (1.60-2.80) 140 0.18 (0.02-0.33) 139 136 1.54(0.97-2.11) 141 0.03 (0-0.10) 138 126 0.36 (0.07-0.66) 140 0 137 123 0.93 (0.45-1.41) 138 0.11 (0-0.27) 135 106 1.67 (0.99-2.36) 129 0.57 (0.199-0.94) 135 96 2.99 (2.15-3.84) 124 1.82 (1.15-2.49) 125	v-up SP SPAS AL N Geo Mean N Geo Mean N Geo Mean 143 10.39 (10.16-10.6) 143 10.35 (10.15-10.6) 139 10.29 (10.09-10.5) 140 2.2 (1.60-2.80) 140 0.18 (0.02-0.33) 139 0.25 (0.05-0.46) 136 1.54(0.97-2.11) 141 0.03 (0-0.10) 138 0.15 (0-0.33) 126 0.36 (0.07-0.66) 140 0 137 0 123 0.93 (0.45-1.41) 138 0.11 (0-0.27) 135 0 106 1.67 (0.99-2.36) 129 0.57 (0.199-0.94) 135 0.85 (0.39-1.31) 96 2.99 (2.15-3.84) 124 1.82 (1.15-2.49) 125 1.4 (0.80-2.00)

Table 4. Geometric Mean Parasite Density (95% Confidence Interval) by Followup Day and Treatment Group

2004

				2006			
Follow	v-up	SP		SPAS		AL	
Day	Ν	Geo Mean	Ν	Geo Mean	Ν	GeoMean	p-value
0	121	9.06 (8.68- 9.44)	122	9.24 (8.85- 9.63)	118	8.89 (8.47- 9.30)	0.4291
2	119	3.06 (2.44- 3.68)	120	0.51 (0.25- 0.76)	115	0.44 (0.18- 0.70)	< 0.0001
3	115	2.04 (1.44-2.64)	119	0.17 (0- 0.35)	114	0.19 (0.02- 0.35)	< 0.0001
7	106	0.72 (0.30- 1.13)	117	0.13 (0- 0.25)	113	0.13 (0- 0.28)	0.0077
12	18	4.72 (2.70- 6.75)	10	7.92 (5-10.83)	3	1.12 (0-5.95)	0.0882
14	97	1.13 (0.60- 1.66)	115	0.34 (0.06- 0.63)	109	0.12 (0- 0.26)	0.0002
21	88	1.55 (0.94- 2.17)	105	1.36 (0.77- 1.95)	108	0.11 (0- 0.28)	< 0.0001
28	79	2.56 (1.75- 3.37)	95	1.48 (0.81- 2.14)	104	0.49 (0.15- 0.83)	< 0.0001

P-values were calculated using the Wilcoxon Rank Sum test.

GeoMean= geometric mean parasite density.

SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine

SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate

AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

				2004	
		N	Mean Hemoglobin	Mean rise in Hemoglobin	Anemic
Day 14	SP	121	9.7 (9.42- 9.98)	0.51 (0.15- 0.87)	64% (56-72%)
	SPAS	136	10.08 (9.83- 10.34)	0.83 (0.55- 1.11)	52% (44-61%)
	AL	136	9.73 (9.46- 9.99)	0.85 (0.57- 1.12)	55% (47-64%)
	p-value		0.0808	0.2362	0.107
Day 28	SP	16	10.06 (9.05- 11.07)	0.81 (-0.05- 1.66)	38% (11-64%)
	SPAS	4	10.75 (8.64- 12.86)	1.33 (-1.32- 3.97)	25% (-55-105%)
	AL	22	9.99 (9.28- 10.69)	0.74 (-0.29- 1.76)	41% (19-63%)
	p-value		0.7077	0.8657	0.842
				2006	
		Ν	Mean Hemoglobin	Mean rise in Hemoglobin	Anemic
Day 14	SP	94	9.42 (9.10- 9.74)	0.34 (0.02- 0.66)	73% (65- 81%)
	SPAS	114	9.43 (9.18- 9.68)	0.48 (0.18- 0.77)	64% (55-73%)
	AL	108	9.65 (9.39- 9.91)	0.7 (0.44- 0.97)	64% (55-72%)
	p-value		0.4229	0.228	0.233
Day 28	SP	80	10.14 (9.81- 10.47)	1.08 (0.65- 1.50)	62% (53-71%)
	SPAS	92	9.77 (9.49- 10.05)	0.85 (0.48- 1.22)	68% (60- 76%)
	AL	104	10.5 (10.25- 10.76)	1.54 (1.25- 1.84)	41% (32- 50%)
	p-value		0.001*	<i>0.0172</i> †	<i><0.0001</i> [‡]

Table 5. Mean hemoglobin level, mean rise in hemoglobin, and percent of anemic children by treatment group

This shows the mean hemoglobin and 95% confidence interval for each treatment group as well as the mean rise in hemoglobin and 95% confidence interval from day 0 until day 14 and day 28 for each treatment group. Children were considered anemic if their hemoglobin was <10 mg/dl. The p-value is the groupwise p-value.

- * The SPAS and AL groups are significantly different from one another, p- value= 0.0007. None of the other pairwise comparisons reveal statistically significant differences between the groups.
- [†] The SPAS and AL groups are significantly different from one another, p- value= 0.016. None of the other pairwise comparisons reveal statistically significant differences between the groups.
- # The AL group is significantly different from both the SP and the SPAS groups, p- value= 0.002 and <0.0001, respectively.</p>

SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine

SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate

AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

2004	HR	95% H	p-value	
SPAS	0.45	0.30	0.69	0.000
AL	0.36	0.23	0.56	<0.001
District (Rufiji vs. Ulanga)	1.76	1.22	2.55	0.003
Bednet ownership	0.76	0.53	1.09	0.138
Age- continuous (months)	1.01	0.99	1.02	0.477
Age (categorical)- 12-23 mo	2.07	1.14	3.75	0.016
Age (categorical)- 24-59 mo	1.86	1.06	3.25	0.031
Weight (kg)	1.02	0.95	1.10	0.579
Gender (female vs. male)	1.12	0.78	1.60	0.538
Temperature	1.08	0.89	1.32	0.440
Parasite density (continuous)	1.06	0.91	1.23	0.488
Parasite density (categorical)	1.17	0.81	1.68	0.408
Use of cotrimoxazole	0.94	0.48	1.86	0.867
2006	HR	95% I Rati	Hazard o CL	p-value
SPAS	0.64	0.43	0.94	0.024
AL	0.22	0.12	0.38	< 0.001
District (Rufiji vs. Ulanga)	1.39	0.97	2.00	0.076
Bednet ownership	0.79	0.46	1.36	0.400
Age- continuous (months)	1.01	1.00	1.02	0.080
Age (categorical)- 12-23 mo	1.77	0.83	3.76	0.137
Age (categorical)- 24-59 mo	2.12	1.10	4.08	0.024
Weight (kg)	1.04	0.97	1.11	0.263
Gender (female vs. male)	1.05	0.73	1.50	0.806
Temperature	0.96	0.74	1.25	0.747
Parasite density (continuous)	1.03	0.96	1.10	0.466
Parasite density (categorical)	6.47	3.95	10.6	<0.0001
Use of cotrimoxazole	-	-	-	

Table 6. Results of Univariate Analysis using a Cox Proportional Hazards Model

SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate, compared to the reference, SP

AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine, compared to the reference, SP

Parasite density as a categorical variable was divided into 2 groups: those with initial parasitemia < 10,000 parasites/ µl, and those with $\ge 10,000$ parasites/ µl.

	HR	95% Hazai	rd Ratio CL	p-value
SPAS, Ulanga	0.19	0.08	0.44	<.0001
SPAS, Rufiji	0.85	0.47	1.52	0.579
AL, Ulanga	0.30	0.15	0.62	0.001
AL, Rufiji	0.53	0.28	0.995	0.048
Bednet	1.12	0.74	1.72	0.587
Age (13-23 mo vs 6-12mo)	2.04	1.12	3.71	0.019
Age (24-59 mo vs 6-12mo)	1.92	1.09	3.38	0.023

Table 7. Results of Multivariate Analysis using a Cox Proportional Hazards Model for 2004, showing the effect of treatment- district interaction.

Table 8. Results of Multivariate Analysis for 2006 using a Cox Proportional HazardsModel.

	HR	95% Hazar	d Ratio CL	p-value
SPAS vs SP	0.55	0.37	0.82	0.003
AL vs SP	0.22	0.13	0.39	<.0001
District (Rufiji vs Kilombero)	2.37	1.55	3.64	<.0001
Bednet ownership	0.82	0.47	1.45	0.500
Age (13-23 mo vs 6-12mo)	1.75	0.82	3.76	0.148
Age (24-59 mo vs 6-12mo)	2.32	1.20	4.49	0.012
Hyperparasitemia (>10,000/ µl)	9.30	5.15	16.80	<.0001

SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate, compared to the reference, SP AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine, compared to the reference, SP

Table 9. Percentage of patients who owned a bed-net among those with and without new infections during the course follow-up by treatment group (2004)

	SP	SPAS	AL
Ν	139	141	138
New Infection	38%	26%	47%
	6/16	5/19	9/19
Not infected	56% 69/123	56% 68/ 122	56% 67/ 119
p- value	0.16	0.017	0.47

New infections during the course of follow-up were less likely among patients who owned a bednet than among those who did not, Mantel-Haenszel OR = 0.461 (0.255, 0.832). This effect did not differ by treatment arm (Breslow-Day Test p-value = 0.47).

SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine

SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate

AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

Fever	SP	SPAS	AL	Total	p- value
Day 0	78/ 78 (100%)	71/ 73 (97%)	72/ 72 (100%)	221/223	0.209*
Day 1	44/ 142 (31%)	50/ 142 (35%)	49/ 139 (35%)	143/423	0.684
Day 2	49/ 140 (35%)	3/ 140 (2%)	5/ 139 (4%)	57/419	<.0001
Day 3	7/ 136 (5%)	0/141	3/ 138 (2%)	10/ 415	0.020
Day 7	4/ 126 (3%)	3/ 140 (2%)	1/ 137 (0.7%)	8/ 403	0.360
Day 14	8/ 123 (7%)	2/ 138 (1.5%)	3/ 135 (2%)	13/ 396	0.051
Day 21	5/ 106 (5%)	6/ 129 (5%)	9/ 135 (7%)	20/370	0.718
Day 28	9/ 96 9%)	9/ 124 (7%)	12/ 125 (10%)	30/ 345	0.776
Total	215/ 961 (22%)	153/ 1040 (15%)	159/ 1028 (15%)	527/ 3029	< 0.0001
Vomiting					
Day 0	70/ 143 (49%)	70/143 (49%)	64/ 139 (46%)	204/425	0.854
Day 1	11/ 142 (8%)	12/ 142 (8%)	7/139 (5%)	30/ 423	0.501
Day 2	17/ 140 (12%)	2/ 140 (1%)	5/ 139 (4%)	24/419	< 0.001
Day 3	3/ 136 (2%)	0/ 141 (0%)	0/ 138 (0%)	3/ 415	0.035*
Day 7	0/126 (0%)	2/ 140 (1.4%)	0/137 (0%)	2/ 403	0.151
Day 14	1/ 123 (0.8%)	1/ 138 (0.7%)	1/ 135 (0.7%)	3/ 396	0.996
Day 21	2/ 106 (2%)	2/ 129 (1.6%)	2/ 135 (1.5%)	6/ 370	0.967
Day 28	2/ 96 (2%)	3/ 124 (2%)	2/ 125 (1.6%)	7/345	0.899
Total	106/ 1012 (10%)	92/ 1097 (8%)	81/ 1087 (7%)	279/3196	0.044
Diarrhea		(11 / 12 / 00 /)		10/105	0.500
Day 0	16/143 (11%)	(11/143 (8%)	13/ 139 (9%)	40/ 425	0.599
Day 1	4/ 142 (3%)	5/ 142 (4%)	5/ 139 (4%)	14/423	0.945*
Day 2	6/ 140 (4%)	2/ 140 (1%)	2/ 139 (1%)	10/419	0.319*
Day 3	4/ 136 (3%)	0/ 141	1/ 138 (1%)	5/415	0.031*
Day 7	1/ 126 (0.8%)	3/ 140 (2%)	2/137 (1.5%)	6/403	0.8/5*
Day 14	2/123 (2%)	0/ 138	5/ 135 (4%)	7/396	0.043*
Day 21	0/ 106 (0%)	0/ 129 (0%)	2/ 135 (1.5%)	2/370	0.335*
Day 28	1/96 (1%)	0/ 124 (0%)	2/ 125 (1.6%)	3/ 345	0.499*
Total	34/ 1012 (3%)	21/ 1097 (2%)	32/ 1087 (3%)	87/3196	0.108
Rash					
Day ()	3/ 143 (2%)	1/143(1%)	2/139(1%)	6/425	0 704*
Day 0 Day 1	2/142(1%)	0/142(0%)	$\frac{1}{139}(1\%)$	3/ 423	0.701
Day 1	0/140(0%)	1/140(1%)	1/139(1%)	2/419	0.349
Day 2	0/136(0%)	1/141(1%)	1/138(1%)	2/ 415	1*
Day 7	0/126(0%)	$\frac{1}{140} (1.40\%)$	2/137(150)	$\frac{2}{4}$ $\frac{13}{403}$	0 554*
Day 1 Day 14	1/123 (0.8%)	0/138(0%)	0/135(0%)	1/306	0.354
Day 14 Day 21	1/ 106 (0.0%)	2/129(1.6%)	1/135(0.7%)	4/370	0.830*
Day 21	0/96(0.970)	2/129(1.070)	0/125(0.770)	$\frac{1}{0}$	0.039
Total	7 / 1012 (0.70/)	7/1007/0/0/	0/ 123 (070)	0/ 343	0.962
TOTAL	// 1012 (0./%)	(/ 1097 (0.6%)	8/ 108/ (0./%)	22/ 3190	0.702

Table 10. Side effects reported by treatment group in 2004

* Fisher exact test was used to calculate the p-value

SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine

SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate

AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

Fever	SP	SPAS	AL	Total	p- value
Day 0	121/121 (100%)	120/ 121 (99%)	117/ 118 (99%)	358/ 360	0.7734*
Day 1	52/ 119 (44%)	48/119 (40%)	58/ 117 (50%)	158/ 355	0.3525
Day 2	61/ 120 (51%)	6/ 120 (5%)	10/ 115 (9%)	77/355	< 0.0001
Day 3	16/ 115 (14%)	2/ 119 (2%)	4/ 114 (4%)	22/348	< 0.0001
Day 7	9/ 106 (8%)	5/ 117 (4%)	3/ 113 (3%)	17/336	0.128
Day 14	27/ 113 (24%)	12/ 121 (10%)	10/ 115 (9%)	49/349	0.001
Day 21	10/ 88 (11%)	10/ 105 (10%)	6/ 108 (6%)	26/301	0.3274
Day 28	12/ 80 (15%)	12/96 (13%)	5/ 104 (5%)	29/280	0.0555
Total	308/ 862 (36%)	215/ 918 (23%)	213/ 904 (24%)	736/ 2684	< 0.0001
Vomiting					
Day 0	42/ 119 (35%)	34/ 121 (28%)	34/ 118 (29%)	248/358	0.4144
Day 1	11/ 118 (9%)	10/ 120 (8%)	6/ 117 (5%)	27/355	0.4478
Day 2	15/ 120 (13%)	1/ 120 (1%)	1/ 115 (1%)	17/355	<.0001
Day 3	4/ 111 (3.5%)	1/ 119 (1%)	1/ 114 (1%)	6/ 348	0.2102
Day 7	0/ 105	0/ 117	1/ 113 (1%)	1/ 335	0.3733
Day 14	8/ 112 (7%)	2/ 122 (2%)	2/ 116 (2%)	12/350	0.004*
Day 21	3/ 90 (3%)	3/ 105 (3%)	0/109	6/ 304	0.1757
Day 28	3/ 80 (4%)	2/ 96 (2%)	0/104	5/ 280	0.1573
Total	86/859 (10%)	53/ 920 (6%)	45/906 (5%)	184/ 2685	<.0001
Diarrhea					
Day 0	5/ 120 (4%)	6/ 121 (5%)	14/ 118 (12%)	25/359	0.0374
Day 1	1/ 119 (0.8%)	1/ 120 (0.8%)	1/ 117 (0.9%)	3/ 356	0.9998
Day 2	1/ 120 (0.8%)	0/ 120	2/ 115 (2%)	3/ 355	0.3465
Day 3	1/ 114 (0.9%)	0/ 119	1/ 114 (0.9%)	2/ 348	0.5929
Day 7	1/ 106 (0.9%)	2/ 117 (2%)	1/ 113 (0.9%)	4/ 336	0.8136
Day 14	2/ 113 (2%)	2/ 121 (2%)	1/ 112 (0.9%)	5/346	0.8352
Day 21	1/ 89 (1%)	2/ 105 (2%)	0/ 108	3/ 302	0.3705
Day 28	1/ 80 (1%)	1/ 95 (1%)	0/105	2/280	0.54
Total	13/ 862 (2%)	14/ 918 (2%)	20/ 902 (2%)	47/2682	0.426
Rash					
Day 0	0/ 120	3/ 121 (2%)	1/ 118 (0.9%)	4/ 359	0.176
Day 1	0/119	2/ 120 (2%)	1/ 117 (0.9%)	3/ 356	0.3704
Day 2	0/ 120	2/ 120 (2%)	0/ 115	2/355	0.1395
Day 3	0/115	2/ 119 (2%)	0/114	2/348	0.1444
Day 7	0/107	0/ 117	0/ 113	0/ 337	
Day 14	0/ 113	1/ 121 (0.8%)	0/ 112	1/346	0.3936
Day 21	0/ 88	0/105	0/108	0/ 301	
Day 28	0/ 80	0/96	1/ 105 (1%)	1/281	0.4312
Total	0/ 862	10/ 919 (1%)	3/ 902 (0.3%)	13/ 2683	0.0031

Table 11. Side effects reported by treatment group in 2006

* Fisher exact test was used to calculate the p-value

SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine



Figure 1. 2004 Uncorrected failure rates stratified by treatment group

This figure shows uncorrected survival curves for the three different treatment arms in 2004. The uncorrected cure rate was significantly lower in the SP arm than in either the SPAS or AL arm, with cure rates of 58%, 76%, and 81% (Log Rank test p- value <0.0001). There was a significant difference between SP and each of the other drugs (p-value <0.0001 for both). There was not a statistically significant difference between SPAS and AL (p-value= 0.33). Similar trends were seen when results were corrected by genotyping, with cure rates of 71%, 91%, and 94%, respectively (Log Rank test p- value <0.0001, data not shown).

SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

Figure 2. 2006 Uncorrected failure rates stratified by treatment group



This figure shows uncorrected survival curves for the three different treatment arms in 2006. The uncorrected cure rates were 51%, 64%, and 86% in the SP, SPAS, and AL arms, respectively (Log Rank test p- value <0.0001). There was a significant difference (p-value <0.0001) between AL and SP and between AL and SPAS. The difference between SP and SPAS was of borderline significance following Bonferroni correction (p-value = 0.016).

SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

Figure 3. Parasite clearance by treatment arm in 2004



Figure 4. Parasite clearance by treatment arm in 2006



SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

Figure 5. Fever clearance by treatment arm, 2004



Figure 6. Fever clearance by treatment arm, 2006



SP= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine SPAS= Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine + Artesunate AL= Artemether- Lumefantrine

REFERENCES

- Bloland P. Drug Resistance in Malaria. WHO/CDS/CSR/DRS/20014 2001;Geneva: WHO.
- World Health Organization. World Health Report 2002: Reducing Risks, Promoting Healthy Life. Geneva: WHO 2002.
- Price R, van Vugt M, Nosten F, et al. Artesunate versus artemether for the treatment of recrudescent multidrug-resistant falciparum malaria. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1998;59:883-8.
- World Health Organization. Antimalarial drug combination therapy: Report of WHO technical consultation. WHO/CDS/RBM/200135 2001.
- World Health Organization. The use of antimalarial drugs. Report of a WHO Informal Consultation. WHO/CDS/RBM/200133 2001.
- World Health Organization. WHO guidelines for the treatment of malaria.
 WHO/HTM/MAL/20061108. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO, 2006.
- White N. Antimalarial drug resistance and combination chemotherapy. *Philos Trans R* Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 1999;354:739-49.
- Gorissen E, Ashruf G, Lamboo M, et al. *In vivo* efficacy study of amodiaquine and sulfadoxine/ pyrimethamine in Kibwezi, Kenya and Kigoma, Tanzania. *Trop Med Int Health*. 2000;5:459-63.
- Mockenhaupt F, Ehrhardt S, Dzisi SY, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial on sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine alone or combined with artesunate or amodiaquine in uncomplicated malaria. *Trop Med Int Health.* 2005;10:512–20.

- 10. Dorsey G, Njama D, Kamya MR, et al. Sulfadoxine/pyrimethamine alone or with amodiaquine or artesunate for treatment of uncomplicated malaria: a longitudinal randomised trial. *Lancet.* 2002;360:2031-8.
- Nevill C, Some ES, Mung'ala VO, et al. Insecticide-treated bednets reduce mortality and severe morbidity from malaria among children on the Kenyan coast. *Trop Med Int Health.* 1996;1:139-46.
- Trape JF. The public health impact of chloroquine resistance in Africa. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2001;64:12-7.
- Vander Jagt D, Hunsaker LA, Campos NM. Characterization of a hemoglobindegrading, low molecular weight protease from *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*. 1986;18:389-400.
- Gluzman I, Francis SE, Oksman A, et al. Order and specificity of the *Plasmodium* falciparum hemoglobin degradation pathway. J Clin Invest. 1994;93:1602-8.
- Tappel A. The mechanism of oxidation of unsaturated fatty acids catalyzed by hematin compounds. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 1953;44:378-95.
- Atamna H, Ginsburg H. Origin of reactive oxygen species in erythrocytes infected with *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*. 1993;61:231-42.
- Sherman I. Amino acid metabolism and protein synthesis in malarial parasites. Bull WHO 1977;55:265–76.
- Francis S, Sullivan Jr. DJ, Goldberg DE. Hemoglobin Metabolism in the Malaria Parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Annu Rev Microbiol*. 1997;51:97-123.
- Price R, Nosten F. Drug resistant falciparum malaria: clinical consequences and strategies for prevention. *Drug Resist Update*. 2001;4:187-96.

- Schwartz I, Lackritz EM, Patchen LC. Chloroquine-resistant *Plasmodium vivax* from Indonesia. N Engl J Med. 1991;324:927.
- Whitby M, Wood G, Veenendaal JR, et al. Chloroquine-resistant *Plasmodium vivax*. Lancet. 1989;ii:1395.
- 22. Schuurkamp GJ, Spicer PE, Kereu RK, et al. Chloroquine-resistant *Plasmodium vivax* in Papua New Guinea. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1992;86:121-2.
- 23. Garg M, Gopinathan N, Bodhe P, et al. Vivax malaria resistant to chloroquine: case reports from Bombay. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1995;89:656-7.
- 24. Myat Phone K, Myint O, Myint L, et al. Emergence of chloroquine-resistant *Plasmodium vivax* in Myanmar (Burma). *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1993;87:687.
- Garavelli PL, Corti E. Chloroquine resistance in *Plasmodium vivax*: the first case in Brazil. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1992;86:128.
- Alecrim MdG, Alecrim W, Macedo V. *Plasmodium vivax* resistance to chloroquine (R2) and mefloquine (R3) in Brazilian Amazon region. *Rev Soc Bras Med Trop.* 1999;32:67-8.
- 27. Arias AE, Corredor A. Low response of Colombian strains of *Plasmodium vivax* to classical antimalarial therapy. *Trop Med Parasitol.* 1989;40:21-3.
- Ruebush TK, 2nd, Zegarra J, Cairo J, et al. Chloroquine-resistant *Plasmodium vivax* malaria in Peru. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2003;69:548-52.
- Chou A, Chevli R, Fitch CD. Ferriprotoporphyrin IX fulfills the criteria for identification as the chloroquine receptor of malaria parasites. *Biochemistry*. 1980;19:1543-9.
- 30. Sidhu A, Verdier-Pinard D, Fidock DA. Chloroquine resistance in *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria parasites conferred by pfcrt mutations. *Science*. 2002;298:210-3.

- 31. Kitua AY, Mwita A, Premji Z, et al. Implementation of a new anti-malarial treatment policy in Tanzania- the rationale for the change and the guide to the process of policy implementation. National Institute for Medical Research, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania 1999.
- Trape J-F, Pison G, Preziosi M-P, et al. Impact of chloroquine resistance on malaria mortality. *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences - Series III - Sciences de la Vie.* 1998;321:689-97.
- White N, Nosten F, Looareesuwan S, et al. Averting a malaria disaster. *Lancet*. 1999;353:1965-7.
- Weidekamm E, Plozza-Nottebrock H, Forgo I, et al. Plasma concentrations of pyrimethamine and sulfadoxine and evaluation of pharmacokinetic data by computerized curve fitting. *Bull WHO*. 1982;60:115-22.
- 35. Basco L, Tahar R, Ringwald P. Molecular basis of *in vivo* resistance to sulfadoxinepyrimethamine in African adult patients infected with *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria parasites. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1998;42:1811-4.
- 36. Eskandarian, A, Keshavarz H, Basco LK, et al. Do mutations in *Plasmodium falciparum* dihydropteroate synthase and dihyrofolate reductase confer resistance to sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine in Iran? *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 2002;96:96-8.
- 37. Jelinek T, Rønn AM, Lemnge MM, et al. Polymorphisms in the dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) and dihydropteroate synthetase (DHPS) genes of *Plasmodium falciparum* and *in vivo* resistance to sulphadoxine/pyrimethamine in isolates from Tanzania. *Trop Med Int Health*. 1998;3:605-9.

- Nagesha H, Din-Syafruddin, Casey GJ, et al. Mutations in the pfmdr1, dhfr and dhps genes of *Plasmodium falciparum* are associated with *in-vivo* drug resistance in West Papua, Indonesia. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 2001;95:43-9.
- Vasconcelos K, Plowe CV, Fontes CJ, et al. Mutations in *Plasmodium falciparum* dihdrofolate reductase and dihydropteroate synthase of isolates from the Amazon Region in Brazil. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz*. 2000;95:721-8.
- Pearce, RJ, Pota H, Evehe M-SB, et al. Multiple Origins and Regional Dispersal of Resistant dhps in African *Plasmodium falciparum* Malaria. PLoS Med 2009;6:e1000055.
- Nosten F, White NJ. Artemisinin-Based Combination Treatment of Falciparum Malaria. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2007;77:181-92.
- 42. Price R, Nosten F, Luxemburger C, et al. The effects of artemisinin derivatives on malaria transmissability. *Lancet.* 1996;347:1654–8.
- Carrara V, Sirilak S, Thonglairuam J, et al. Deployment of early diagnosis and mefloquine- artesunate treatment of falciparum malaria in Thailand: the Tak Malaria Initiative. *PLoS Med.* 2006;3:e183.
- 44. Benakis A, Paris M, Loutan L, et al. Pharmacokinetics of artemisinin and artesunate after oral administration in healthy volunteers. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1997;56:17-23.
- 45. Malenga G, Palmer A, Staedke S, et al. Antimalarial treartment with artemisinn combination therapy in Africa: desirable, achievable, but not easy. *BMJ*. 2005;331:706-7.
- World Health Organization. Susceptibility of *Plasmodium falciparum* to antimalarial drugs: Report on global monitoring: 1996–2004. . Technical document WHO/HTM/MAL/20051103 Geneva: World Health Organization 2005.

- 47. World Health Organization. Assessment and Monitoring of Antimalarial drug efficacy for the treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria. WHO/ HTM/ RBM/ 200350 Geneva: World Health Organization 2003.
- 48. Snounou G, Beck HP. The use of PCR genotyping in the assessment of recrudescence or reinfection after antimalarial drug treatment. *Parasitology Today.* 1998;14:462-7.
- 49. Schellenberg D, Kahigwa E, Drakeley C, et al. The safety and efficacy of sulfadoxinepyrimethamine, amodiaquine, and their combination in the treatment of uncomplicated *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2002;67:17-23.
- 50. Mugittu K, Ndejembi M, Malisa A, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of sulfadoxinepyrimethamine and prevalence of resistance markers in Tanzania prior to revision of Malaria treatment policy: *Plasmodium falciparum* Dihydrofolate Reductase and Dihydropteroate Synthase Mutations in Monitoring *in vivo* Resistance. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2004;71:696-702.
- Vijaykadga S, Rojanawatsirivej C, Cholpol S, et al. *In vivo* sensitivity monitoring of mefloquine monotherapy and artesunate-mefloquine combinations for the treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria in Thailand in 2003. *Trop Med Int Health*. 2006;11:211-9.
- 52. Price R, Nosten F, Luxemburger C, et al. Artesunate versus artemether in combination with mefloquine for the treatment of multidrug-resistant falciparum malaria. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1995;89:523-7.
- United Republic of Tanzania. 2002 Population and Housing Census, National Bureau of Statistics, 2002. (http://www.tanzania.go.tz/census).

- 54. Brockman A, Paul RE, Anderson TJ, et al. Application of genetic markers to the identification of recrudescent *Plasmodium falciparum* infections on the northwestern border of Thailand. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1999;60:14-21.
- 55. Bredenkamp B, Sharp BL, Mthembu SD, et al. Failure of sulfadoxine-pyrimathamine in treating *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria in KwaZulu Natal. *S Afr Med J.* 2001;91:970-2.
- 56. Plowe C, Cortese JF, Djimde A, et al. Mutations in *Plasmodium falciparum* dihydrofolate reductase and dihydropteroate synthase and epidemiologic patterns of pyrimethaminesulfadoxine use and resistance. *J Infect Dis.* 1997;176:1590-6.
- 57. Bwijo B, Kaneko A, Takechi M, et al. High prevalence of quintuple mutant dhps/dhfr genes in *Plasmodium falciparum* infections seven years after introduction of sulfadoxine and pyrimethamine as first line treatment in Malawi. *Acta Trop.* 2003;85:363-73.
- 58. Staedke S, Kamya MR, Dorsey G, et al. Amodiaquine, sulfadoxine/pyrimethamine, and combination therapy for treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria in Kampala, Uganda: a randomised trial. *Lancet.* 2001;358:368-74.
- Gutman J, Skarbinski J, Kahigwa E, et al. Combination Antimalarial Therapies are Well Received. American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygeine, 56th Annual Meeting. Philadelphia, PA, 2007.
- Gimnig J, Vulule JM, Lo TQ, et al. Impact of permethrin-treated bed nets on entomologic indices in an area of intense year-round malaria transmission. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2003;68:16-22.
- Lindsay S, Snow RW, Broomfield GL, et al. Impact of permethrin-treated bednets on malaria transmission by the Anopheles gambiae complex in The Gambia. *Med Vet Entomol.* 1989;3.

- 62. Jaenson T, Gomes MJ, Barreto dos Santos RC, et al. Control of endophagic Anopheles mosquitoes and human malaria in Guinea Bissau, western Africa by permethrin-treated bed nets. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1994;88:620-4.
- 63. Beach R, Ruebush TK II, Sexton JD, et al. Effectiveness of permethrin-impregnated bed nets and curtains for malaria control in a holoendemic area of Western Kenya. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1993;49:290-300.
- 64. Alifrangis M, Lemnge MM, Ronn AM, et al. Increasing prevalence of wildtypes in the dihydrofolate reductase gene of *Plasmodium falciparum* in an area with high levels of sulfadoxine/pyrimethamine resistance after introduction of treated bed nets. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2003;69:238-43.
- 65. Hastings IM, D'Alessandro U. Modeling a Predictable Disaster: The Rise and Spread of Drug-resistant Malaria. *Parasitology Today*. 2000;16:340-7.
- 66. Mackinnon MJ, Hastings IM. The evolution of multiple drug resistance in malaria parasites. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1998;92:188-95.
- 67. Lengeler C. Insecticide-treated bednets and curtains for preventing malaria. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2004;2:CD000363.
- Nosten F, White NJ. Artemisinin-based combination treatment of falciparum malaria. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2007;77:181-92.
- Adjuik M BA, Garner P, Olliaro P, et al. International Artemisinin study group.
 Artesunate combinations for treatment of malaria: a metaanalysis. *Lancet.* 363:9-17.